STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED 05-24-2016 CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

vs.

Appeal No.: 15 AP 656 CR

PATRICK K. KOZEL,

Defendant-Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS REVERSING A FINAL ORDER ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SAUK COUNTY, BRANCH III, THE HONORABLE GUY REYNOLDS PRESIDING.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Respectfully submitted,

PATRICK K. KOZEL, Defendant-Appellant

TRACEY WOOD & ASSOCIATES Attorneys for the Defendant One South Pinckney Street, Suite 950 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 (608) 661-6300

BY: TRACEY A. WOOD State Bar No. 1020766

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. RESPONDENT FAILED TO PROVE SUFFICIENT FACTS TO SUPPORT THE LEGAL CONCLUSION THAT THE EMT WAS A "PERSON ACTING UNDER THE DIRECTION OF A PHYSICIAN" UNDER WISCONSIN STATUTES SEC. 343.305(5)(B).

A. Standard of review.

- B. The Court of Appeals decision finding the State failed to establish the EMT performed the blood draw under the direction of the physician was correct.
- C. Suppression is the appropriate remedy.
 - 1. The State waived the argument that suppression cannot be the remedy in this case.
 - 2. To the extent the State claims suppression can never be a remedy in a case such as this, the State is incorrect.

II. THE POLICE TOOK MR. KOZEL'S BLOOD IN A CONSTITUTIONALLY UNREASONABLE MANNER.

- A. Standard of review.
- B. Non-medical jail blood draws raise serious questions of constitutional reasonableness that the State cannot overcome under the facts of this case.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

By granting review, this Court has indicated that both oral argument and publication are appropriate in this matter.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In addition to those facts noted in Petitioner's Brief, Mr. Kozel notes the following facts from the record in this matter.

Motion Hearing

On September 26, 2014, Mr. Kozel appeared for a motion hearing in the Sauk County Circuit Court, the Honorable Guy D. Reynolds presiding. (26:1). The parties addressed two issues at the hearing which had been raised via motion. (26:29–30). The first issue was whether the State proved that Matthew Goethel, an EMTintermediate technician ("EMT") for the Baraboo District Ambulance Service ("BDAS"), acted "under the direction of a physician" for purposes of Wis. Stat. § 343.305(5)(b) when he stuck a needle into Mr. Kozel's arm and took his blood. (*Id.*) The second issue was whether the State proved that the EMT stuck a needle into Mr. Kozel's arm in a constitutionally reasonable manner. (*Id.*)

The EMT was the only witness. (26:2). He testified that he began working for BDAS in September of 2005. (26:3). He described his certifications. (26:4–5). He began performing blood draws in June of 2009, before Dr. Mendoza wrote his letter ostensibly authorizing that action. (26:7). He testified that he knew Dr. Mendoza. (*Id.*) Dr. Mendoza is the BDAS medical director. (*Id.*)

The EMT identified a letter that Dr. Mendoza wrote on August 21,

2009. (26:8). The lower court received the letter over Mr. Kozel's

objection. (26:24). The letter reads, in pertinent part:

To Whom It May Concern: . . . I have authorized a standing order for the EMT-Paramedics . . . authority [sic] to draw legal blood draws at the request of the law enforcement officers. The . . . EMT-Paramedics and EMT-Intermediate Technicians are acting under the direction of my physician license. They have all completed extensive training regarding the procedures and legalities of obtaining blood draws. If you have questions regarding this manner [sic], please do not hesitate to contact me.¹ (25:2).

Even on direct examination, the EMT admitted that he had never spoken with Dr. Mendoza about the letter. (26:8). The EMT acknowledged that if Dr. Mendoza were not available during a blood draw, he would simply consult a different physician at a nearby hospital. (26:9). However, Respondent offered no evidence that any physician – Dr. Mendoza nor anyone else – ever purported to authorize jail blood draws. The EMT admitted that his qualifications for establishing an IV line are not a blank check to perform any procedure on a person's vein. (26:10). He believed there were

¹ Nowhere in this letter, or in any other part of the record before this Court, does Dr. Mendoza authorize the practice of taking suspects' blood in the Sauk County Jail.

protocols and instructions from Dr. Mendoza but would have to check to make sure. (26:26).

The EMT described the room in which blood draws occur at the Sauk County Jail. (26:11). He testified that he performed the blood draw in a small room he calls "the prebooking area." (*Id.*) He testified that the room also contains a breath test machine. (*Id.*) The EMT never said that he could see microorganisms with his naked eye. However, he testified that the room "appears clean." (26:12). There is a sign or chart on the wall indicating when jail staff does janitorial duties. (26:13). The EMT testified that the room was not sterile. (26:13).

The EMT was trained to do blood draws by individuals at Madison Area Technical College and by a former paramedic on his staff. Dr. Mendoza did not train him to do blood draws. (26:16). He admitted even a registered nurse is considered more advanced in training than an EMT. (26:19). He admitted he did not know how long the term of Dr. Mendoza's contract is, and that the letter was dated 2009. (26:22). The letter does not specifically allow EMTs to draw blood at the jail. (26:25). The EMT was never tested by Dr. Mendoza or asked to do any procedures for him. (26:25). Dr. Mendoza simply reviewed the EMT's certification. (26:25). He has not watched him do one blood draw at the jail. (26:25). Dr. Mendoza never personally told the EMT he was permitted to draw blood at a jail facility, nor did Dr. Mendoza ever inspect the blood draw location at the jail. (26:25). The EMT did not speak with Kozel about any health issues, did not ask whether he was taking any medicines or even attempt to verify his medical status at all prior to drawing blood. (26:27). Even though the EMT said Mendoza would be available by cell phone, the point of contact would actually be the emergency room doctor. (26:17). The EMT admitted if there is a medical problem with an individual, there are specific emergency interventions that can be done in the emergency room, but not in the jail. (26:28).

The EMT admitted to playing a role in a serious mishap during a previous jail blood draw. (26:19). The EMT failed in his first attempt to draw blood from the subject. (*Id.*). Still, the EMT persisted and attempted a second blood draw. (*Id.*). The individual lost consciousness, and "one or two" jail deputies had to help the individual to the floor. (*Id.*).

On cross-examination, the EMT testified that Dr. Mendoza never personally vetted him. (26:25). Dr. Mendoza never observed the EMT perform a blood draw in the jail. (*Id.*). Dr. Mendoza never gave his permission for jail blood draws to occur. (26:26). The EMT testified that Dr. Mendoza is aware that jail blood draws occur, but has never authorized the practice. (*Id.*).

The EMT acknowledged that some people have medical issues that would affect the safety of a blood draw. (26:27). However, he never asked Mr. Kozel about any possible health issues. (*Id.*). He never asked Mr. Kozel about whether he was on any medication. (*Id.*). The EMT acknowledged that he failed to "verify his medical status at all." (*Id.*).

Dr. Mendoza created written protocol for BDAS blood draws, but it is missing from this record because Respondent failed to introduce it. Respondent also failed to subpoena Dr. Mendoza. (26). The lower court received the letter over the defense's foundational and hearsay objections. (26:23). Therefore, this Court is left only with vague hearsay to determine whether Dr. Mendoza authorized this particular EMT to do any blood draws anywhere – let alone in a jail. Dr. Mendoza's letter does not mention, much less approve, taking blood draws at the Sauk County Jail. (*Id.*).

After oral argument, the lower court denied Mr. Kozel's motion. (26:42). The court found that there was no doctor in the room or immediate area. (26:35). The EMT never contacted a doctor

during the course of the procedure here at issue. (*Id.*). Granted, the EMT could have attempted to reach Dr. Mendoza by cell phone. (*Id.*). Dr. Mendoza wrote a letter dated August 21, 2009 authorizing EMT-intermediates to perform blood draws. (*Id.*). The court found written protocols existed, but Respondent failed to put them into the record. (26:38). Further, it is unknown whether protocols were updated since the letter was written four years ago. The court found the EMT was a medical professional. (26:39). The court found the EMT took Mr. Kozel's blood "in accordance with the preexisting authorization of Dr. Mendoza," despite its inability to consider his written protocol. (26:39–40).

Plea Hearing

Mr. Kozel appeared for plea and sentencing on January 9, 2015. (43:1). He entered a plea to OWI as a second offense, reserving his right to appeal the denial of his motion. (43:3). Pursuant to the plea agreement, the Court stayed all penalties pending appeal, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 969.01(2)(b). (43:9). Mr. Kozel filed his Notice of Intent to Pursue Post-Conviction Relief and Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals. (37:45). The Court of Appeals decision was released on November 12, 2015. *State v. Kozel*, 366 Wis. 2d 331, 873 N.W.2d 100 (Ct. App. 2015)

(unpublished). That decision reversed the trial court finding that the EMT was acting under the direction of a physician and did not reach the issue as to whether the blood was drawn in a constitutionally reasonable manner.

ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the Court of Appeals' decision that the State failed to prove that the EMT was "a person acting under the direction of a physician" within the meaning of Wis. Stat. §343.305(5)(b). Additionally, this Court should reverse the trial court decision and find the jail blood draw unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment or article I, section 11 of the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions, respectively, as the Court of Appeals did not reach this issue.

Pursuant to the terms of his plea deal, Mr. Kozel stands convicted only of operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). (43:8). The chemical test evidence is the fruit of the "poisonous tree" with respect to both issues and should have been suppressed in the court below. *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 484 (1963); *see also Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643, 655 (1961). Mr. Kozel therefore respectfully requests that this Court reverse his conviction and remand to the circuit court for further proceedings.

I. RESPONDENT FAILED TO PROVE SUFFICIENT FACTS TO SUPPORT THE LEGAL CONCLUSION THAT THE EMT WAS A "PERSON ACTING UNDER THE DIRECTION OF A PHYSICIAN" UNDER WISCONSIN STATUTES SEC. 343.305(5)(B).

A. Standard of review.

Whether the EMT acted "under the direction of a physician" requires this Court to "construe and apply [Wisconsin Statutes sec. 343.305(5)(b)] to the facts of *this* case." *State v. Schmidt*, 277 Wis. 2d 561, 569–70, 691 N.W.2d 379 (Ct. App. 2004) (emphasis added). This Court will set aside clearly erroneous factual findings made by the lower court. *Schmidt*, 277 Wis. 2d at 570. Statutory interpretation itself, however, presents a question of law that appellate courts review *de novo*. *State v. Johnson*, 318 Wis. 2d 21, 31, 767 N.W.2d 207 (2009). This Court owes no deference to the legal conclusions of the lower court. *State v. Wills*, 193 Wis. 2d 273, 277, 533 N.W.2d 165 (1995).

B. The Court of Appeals' decision finding the State failed to establish the EMT performed the blood draw under the direction of a physician was correct.

The trial court found that the EMT took Mr. Kozel's blood "in accordance with the preexisting authorization of Dr. Mendoza," despite the fact that the State never sought to introduce Mendoza's written protocol. (26:39–40). The parties and the Court of Appeals assumed this finding was subject to a *de novo* review, and the State's brief does not argue otherwise.²

A decision by this Court as to this issue really only affects this specific case, as the statute in question has since been amended to include "other medical professionals". Thus, as of April of 2014 it is no longer necessary that a physician give direction to another medical professional drawing blood, given the statutory amendment. This is a discrete issue of whether there were sufficient facts establishing that a physician properly supervised or directed this EMT in this case.

There are no previous United States Supreme Court or Wisconsin Supreme Court decisions on this issue. There are a couple Court of Appeals decisions, but the issues and facts differed in those cases from the ones in the case at bar. Moreover, this Court of Appeals' decision is unpublished and has no precedential value.

² The trial court found that the EMT is a medical professional, rather than a paraprofessional. These people provide indispensable services, but are not licensed to practice in the medical profession. The Greek prefix "para" indicates "beside" or "near." *American Heritage College Dictionary* 1007 (4th ed. 2002). Therefore, EMT's and paramedics work *alongside* a medical professional, but are not medical professionals themselves. *Id.* at 1009 ("paramedic. *n*. A person who is trained to give emergency medical treatment or *assist medical professionals.*") (emphasis added). Therefore, the lower court's finding that the EMT is a medical professional is clearly erroneous, and even if relevant to the issues in this appeal, this Court should set it aside.

It can be cited for persuasive authority, but the only takeaway from the decision is that the EMT's testimony in this specific case did not show he was properly directed under the statute. Thus, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any other case.

At the time of the blood draw at issue in the case, Wis. Stat. § 343.305(5)(b) stated in pertinent part:

Blood may be withdrawn from the person arrested...only by a (1) physician, (2) registered nurse, (3) medical technologist, (4) physician assistant or (5) <u>person acting under the direction</u> <u>of a physician</u>. (numeration and emphasis added).

The statute in question was amended in April 2014, after the date of the blood draw at issue in this case, by 2013 Wis. Act. 224. Effective April 9, 2014, Wis. Stat. § 343.305(5)(b) permits an additional category of person to perform blood draws: "or other medical professional who is authorized to draw blood." See: 2013 Wis. Act. 224 § 3. Thus, because this specific class of people can now draw blood without being supervised and directed by a physician, this specific issue is not likely to recur. The Court of Appeals simply reviewed the facts proven at the evidentiary hearing to determine whether the State proved the EMT who drew defendantappellant's blood was "acting under the direction of a physician" pursuant to Wis. Stat. sec. 343.305(5)(b). Because there was no testimony that a physician ever even watched this EMT draw blood or reviewed his work, the Court of Appeals determined that the State did not meet its burden under the statute. This was the correct decision under the facts of this specific case and under the law at the time.

The cases mentioned by the State in its brief, State v. Osborne, 349 Wis. 2d 527, 835 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2013) (unpublished); County of Sauk v. McDonald, 2015 WI App 52, 866 N.W.2d 405 (unpublished); County of Fond du Lac v. Bethke, 354 Wis. 2d 326, 847 N.W.2d 427 (Ct. App. 2014) (unpublished), were all decided on a fact intensive analysis specific to those individual cases. Each were unpublished Court of Appeals cases and may not be cited for any precedential value. Facts in all, as well as the legal challenges, were quite different. In McDonald, the Court of Appeals found that the factual stipulation entered into by the defense and State established that the paramedic was supervised by a physician. The argument in that case focused on whether this level EMT should ever be allowed to draw blood in a jail and whether a jail environment is an appropriate place for a blood draw. The case was not about whether the State met its burden of proof that the paramedic in question was completing blood draws under the

direction of the doctor because the Court found that the stipulation removed that argument, and any argument to the contrary was waived. The issue was whether this type of direction stipulated to in the lower court supported the trial court's finding that the blood draw in a jail setting was reasonable. In the instant case, there was no stipulation that a doctor would say he supervised and directed the blood draw, and the State failed to subpoena a doctor to so testify.

In *Osborne*, the State presented evidence that the physician supervised that particular EMT; that the physician "signed off" on the EMT's performance of his duties, and there was contact at least monthly between the physician and the EMT, with the ability for contact with the physician whenever needed. *Osborne*, *supra* at ¶ 19. In the case at bar, there is nothing in the record to show the physician ever saw the EMT complete a blood draw. The State also failed to establish any protocols for blood draws, unlike in the other cases. The State conceded the physician in this case had not trained the EMT, had not observed the EMT doing any procedures, and had not seen the EMT perform a blood draw in the jail. (State's Petition for Review, p. 9) (26:25). Mr. Kozel's case was reversed due to a failure of proof on the part of the State. The other cases mentioned had proof in the record that there was direction by the physician of the paramedics in those situations. The cases are not contradictory to each other—the analysis is the same. The issue was whether the State met its burden of proof that a physician supervised and directed the EMT in each case. In the current case, there was no supervision or direction. Thus, the Court of Appeals reversed.

The *Bethke* decision has nothing to do with the issues raised in the current case. It involved a challenge to whether the police officer can testify as to whether the person who drew blood was permitted by statute at trial. It was essentially a hearsay objection which the trial court overruled. The Court of Appeals found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in overruling the defense objection. The case is, thus, irrelevant to the issues here.

The narrow issue here is whether Respondent proved in the lower court that the specific EMT who drew Mr. Kozel's blood in this case is a "person acting under the direction of a physician" under Wisconsin Statutes sec. 343.305(5)(b). Appellant does not ask this Court to conclude that all Sauk County Jail blood draws necessarily fall outside of sec. 343.305(5)(b)'s purview. However, the facts of this case fail to pass statutory muster.

The finding by the trial court that the EMT was acting under the direction of Dr. Mendoza was a legal conclusion subject to a *de* *novo* review by this Court. The only real evidence in support of that conclusion was the letter from Dr. Mendoza written four years prior stating that these employees could draw blood. This EMT is not named personally in the letter. Further, ruling that a vague letter provided enough proof to justify a bodily search such as this is, as a matter of fact, an erroneous ruling. To the extent the trial court relied upon the EMT's following of any protocol, no reason exists in the record for a court to assume (1) the nature of the written protocol or (2) that the EMT conformed his conduct to that protocol.

The issue of whether the EMT acted under Dr. Mendoza's direction for purposes of sec. 343.305(5)(b) depends upon the specifics of Dr. Mendoza's direction, if there actually was any. One letter constitutes the only evidence in the record proving the nature of Dr. Mendoza's directions. (25:2). This letter neither mentions nor approves the practice of taking blood draws at the Sauk County Jail. (*Id.*)

Dr. Mendoza created written protocol for BDAS blood draws, but it is missing from this record because Respondent failed to introduce it. Respondent also failed to subpoena Dr. Mendoza. (26). The lower court received the letter over the defense's foundational and hearsay objections. (26:23). Therefore, this Court is left only

with vague hearsay to determine whether Dr. Mendoza authorized this particular EMT to do any blood draws anywhere – let alone in a jail. No reason exists for this Court to assume that Dr. Mendoza ever contemplated or approved the practice of jail blood draws. The EMT took Mr. Kozel's blood in the Sauk County Jail. Therefore, the record is insufficient for this Court to conclude the EMT acted under Dr. Mendoza's direction for purposes of sec. 343.305(5)(b). State v. Frambs, 157 Wis. 2d 700, 705-06, 460 N.W.2d 811 (1990) (citing with approval Bourjaily v. United States, 483 U.S. 171, 175 (1987) ("We are therefore guided by our prior decisions regarding admissibility determinations that hinge on preliminary factual questions. We have traditionally required that these matters be established by a preponderance of proof."). Respondent failed to establish the requisite preliminary factual nexus between the physician and the paramedic; therefore, there was no evidence for this Court to conclude that the paramedic was "acting under the direction of a physician" for purposes of Wisconsin Statutes sec. 343.305(5)(b). Without a statement in the record that Dr. Mendoza authorized jail blood draws, this Court cannot assume he did or would have done so.

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