RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **04-20-2016**

IN SUPREME COUR FLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2015AP656-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

PATRICK K. KOZEL,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN OPINION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS REVERSING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SAUK COUNTY, THE HONORABLE GUY D. REYNOLDS, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE EMERGENCY MEDICAL TECHNICIAN WHO DREW KOZEL'S BLOOD WAS AUTHORIZED TO DO SO BECAUSE HE WAS "A PERSON ACTING UNDER THE DIRECTION OF A PHYSICIAN."

A. Applicable legal principles and standard of review.

The first issue in this case concerns whether the EMT who drew Kozel's blood was "a person acting under the direction of a physician," and therefore was authorized to conduct a blood draw under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(5)(b). Resolution of this issue requires interpretation of Wisconsin's implied consent law. "The purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine what the statute means so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended effect." *State v. Buchanan*, 2013 WI 31, ¶ 23, 346 Wis. 2d 735, 828 N.W.2d 847 (quoting *State v. Ziegler*, 2012 WI 73, ¶ 42, 342 Wis. 2d 256, 816 N.W.2d 238) (additional citations omitted) (internal quotation marks omitted).

In interpreting a statute, a reviewing court "begins with the plain language of the statute." State v. Dinkins, 2012 WI 24, ¶ 29, 339 Wis. 2d 78, 810 N.W.2d 787 (citing State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110). A court "generally give[s] words and phrases their common, ordinary, and accepted meaning." Id. (citing Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 45). A reviewing court is to "interpret statutory language reasonably, 'to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." Id. (citing Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46). "An interpretation that contravenes the manifest purpose of the statute is unreasonable." Id. (citing Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 49).

A statute is ambiguous if it is susceptible to more than one reasonable understanding. *State v. Grady*, 2007 WI 81, ¶ 15, 302 Wis. 2d 80, 734 N.W.2d 364 (citing *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 47). If a statute is ambiguous, a reviewing court may examine extrinsic sources in order to guide its interpretation. *Id.* (citing *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 50).

The proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law, reviewed de novo. *State v. Quintana*, 2008 WI 33, ¶ 11, 308 Wis. 2d 615, 748 N.W.2d 447.

B. The EMT who drew Kozel's blood was "a person acting under the direction of a physician," under Wis. Stat. § 343.305.

Under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(5)(b) (2011-12), "Blood may be withdrawn from the person arrested for violation of s. 346.63 (1) . . . only by a physician, registered nurse, medical technologist, physician assistant or person acting under the direction of a physician."³ The phrase "acting under the directions of a physician" has been part of the implied consent law since the law was initially enacted in 1969. 1969 Wis. Laws ch. 383, § 4. The phrase is not defined in the statute.

The court of appeals addressed the meaning of "person acting under the direction of a physician" in *State v. Penzkofer*, 184 Wis. 2d 262, 516 N.W.2d 774 (Ct. App. 1994). In *Penzkofer*, a blood draw was performed by a certified lab technician who was generally supervised by a pathologist, and who followed written protocol approved by the pathologist. *Id.* at 265.

The defendant in *Penzkofer* argued that "an act pursuant to a general authorization does not constitute an act 'under the direction' of a physician." *Id.* at 264.

³ The statute has since been amended to add that blood may also be drawn by a "phlebotomist, or other medical professional who is authorized to draw blood." 2013 Wis. Act 224. The language at issue in this case—"person acting under the direction of a physician"—remains in the 2013-14 version of the statute.

The court of appeals disagreed, and concluded that the technician who drew the defendant's blood was acting under the direction of a physician. *Id.* The court noted that the statute reflects "the legislature's concern for testing in such a manner as to yield reliable and accurate results." *Id.* at 266. The court noted that the legislature has not required a physician to be present, much less involved in the blood draw, and it rejected the argument that a physician must give an express authorization for each blood draw. *Id.*

In a number of unpublished cases, the court of appeals has concluded that medical personnel who draw blood while acting under the general supervision of a physician are acting under the direction of a physician. In *County of Fond du Lac v. Bethke*, No. 2013AP2297, 2014 WL 1688068 (Wis. Ct. App. April 30, 2014) (unpublished) (Pet.-Ap. 154-60), blood was drawn by a laboratory technician who was sent by a hospital, and who checked a box on a form indicating that he worked under the direction of a physician. *Id.* ¶ 13 n.5. The court of appeals concluded that these facts "support the inference that the technician was a 'person acting under the direction of a physician." *Id.*

In State v. Osborne, No. 2012AP2540, 2013 WL 3213298 (Wis. Ct. App. June 27, 2013) (unpublished) (Pet.-Ap. 161-68), a one-judge case from Sauk County, a Baraboo District Ambulance Service EMT drew the defendant's blood at the Sauk County jail. *Id.* ¶¶ 2, 5. The EMT testified that he

[W]as operating under the supervision of a physician, that a physician "signed off" on the performance of the EMT's duties, that the EMT was in at least monthly contact with that physician, and that the EMT could be in contact with that physician at any time if the need arose.

Id. ¶ 19.

Judge Lundsten concluded that the EMT was acting under the direction of a physician, and it affirmed the circuit court's decision denying the motion to suppress the blood test results. *Id.* ¶¶ 1, 19, 22. The court of appeals rejected the defendant's argument that under *Penzkofer*, 184 Wis. 2d 262, a person can only act under the direction of a physician who is not present for a blood draw if the person acts in accordance with written protocol by the physician. *Osborne*, 2013 WL 3213298, ¶¶ 18-19. The court of appeals concluded that acting in accordance with written protocol is not required by *Penzkofer* or the implied consent law. *Id.* ¶ 19.

In County of Sauk v. McDonald, No. 2014AP1921, 2015 WL 2114340 (Wis. Ct. App. May 7, 2015) (unpublished) (Pet.-Ap. 169-82), another one-judge case from Sauk County, a Baraboo District Ambulance Service EMT who drew a defendant's blood testified that he works under the supervision of a doctor associated with the Baraboo District Ambulance Service. Id. \P 6. The State submitted a letter from Dr. Manuel Mendoza, the Director of the Baraboo District Ambulance Services, stating that the district's EMT-Paramedics act under the directions of his physician license. Id. ¶ 3. Judge Blanchard concluded that the EMT was "acting under the direction of a physician" based largely on Dr. Mendoza's authorization letter, which it found demonstrated that Dr. Mendoza "took professional responsibility over" the training and conduct of the EMT. McDonald, stating:

I conclude that the record supports the reasonable inference that Dr. Mendoza took professional responsibility over, which is to say direction of, the pertinent training and conduct of the particular paramedic who was employed by the Baraboo District Ambulance Service and who performed the draw of McDonald's blood, and that this is sufficient to satisfy WIS. STAT. § 343.305(5)(b).

Id. \P 22. The court of appeals therefore affirmed the circuit court's order denying the defendant's motion to suppress the blood test results. Id. \P 29.

The facts of the current case are functionally the same as those in *McDonald* and *Osborne*. The circuit court concluded that the EMT-Intermediate who drew Kozel's blood was acting under the direction of Dr. Mendoza. The court noted that the blood was drawn by "a state licensed and certified emergency medical technician intermediate, who is employed and was employed at the time by the Baraboo District Ambulance Service." (26:34.) The court found that while no doctor was present when the EMT drew Kozel's blood, the EMT was "able to reach Dr. Mendoza" by telephone, and "could contact the physician on call at the emergency room at the local hospital." (26:35.)

The court noted that the EMT testified that Dr. Mendoza is "a supervising physician and medical director for the ambulance service." The court found that Dr. Mendoza wrote a letter August 21, 2009 authorizing approved EMT-intermediates, like the EMT in this case, "to draws." perform blood and stating that the **EMT**-intermediates "had received extensive training regarding the procedures and legalities of obtaining blood draws." (26:35.)

The circuit court noted that the EMT who drew Kozel's blood "is a certified, licensed EMT intermediate technician," who is "employed by the Baraboo District Ambulance Service." The court further noted that the "medical director" of the Baraboo District Ambulance Service "has authorized him to act under the direction of his physicians license." (26:36-37.)

The circuit court found that "as an EMT intermediate employed by the ambulance service," the EMT in this case "meets the description of medical professionals expressly acting under the direction of Dr. Mendoza's physician license and authorized by Dr. Mendoza to draw blood when requested by law enforcement officers." (26:39.) The court concluded that it did not matter that Dr. Mendoza was not present when the EMT drew Kozel's blood, because as the court determined in Penzkofer, 184 Wis. 2d 262, Wis. Stat. \$343.305(5)(d)"does not require over-the-shoulder breathing-down-his-neck supervision or supervision." (26:39-40.)

In this case, like in Osborne and McDonald, the blood draw was conducted by an EMT with the Baraboo District Ambulance Service, in the Sauk County jail. Like in Osborne and *McDonald*, the EMT in this case testified that he was acting under the direction of a doctor with the Baraboo District Ambulance Service. Like in *McDonald*, in this case, the State submitted a letter from Dr. Mendoza, the Director of the Baraboo District Ambulance Service, authorizing EMTs with the Baraboo District Ambulance Service to conduct blood draws and stating that the EMTs act under the direction of his physician's license. And like in Osborne and *McDonald*, in this case the circuit court concluded that the EMT was acting under the direction of a physician, and denied a motion to suppress the test results. But in the current case, unlike in Osborne and McDonald, the court of appeals reversed the circuit court's decision.

The court of appeals in this case concluded that the circuit court erred in finding that the EMT was acting under the direction of Dr. Mendoza when he drew Kozel's blood. The court seemed to find it significant that the letter from Dr. Mendoza states that approved EMT-Intermediate technicians with the Baraboo Ambulance Services have authority to perform blood draws under Dr. Mendoza's "license," but not under Dr. Mendoza's "direction." *Kozel*, 2014 WL 6970484, ¶ 13.

The court did not explain why it would matter if Dr. Mendoza's letter stated that approved EMT-Intermediates have authority to conduct blood draws "under my direction" rather than "under the direction of my physician license."

The State maintains that the exact wording of the letter makes no difference. Dr. Mendoza—the Director of the Baraboo District Ambulance Service—made clear he was authorizing approved EMT-Intermediates employed by the Baraboo District Ambulance Service to conduct blood draws. As the court of appeals concluded in *McDonald*, the letter demonstrates that "Dr. Mendoza took professional responsibility over, which is to say direction of, the pertinent training and conduct of the particular paramedic who was employed by the Baraboo District Ambulance Service and who performed the draw of McDonald's blood, and that this is sufficient to satisfy WIS. STAT. § 343.305(5)(b)." *McDonald*, 2015 WL 2114340, ¶ 22.

The court of appeals consulted a dictionary that defines "direction" as "guidance or supervision of action, conduct, or operation." *Kozel*, 2015 WL 6970484, ¶ 13 (quoting Webster's Third New International Dictionary 640 (1993)).

The court of appeals noted that the EMT testified that he acts under Dr. Mendoza's "supervision," that he can contact Dr. Mendoza by telephone, and that Dr. Mendoza occasionally goes to the jail where the EMT drew Kozel's blood. *Id.* However, the court concluded that this is not evidence that Dr. Mendoza "guided or supervised the EMT's performance of the blood draw." *Id.* The court of appeals distinguished *Penzkofer* and *Osborne*, noting that unlike in those cases:

[T]here is no evidence . . . that the EMT operated under written procedures or protocols from or approved by Dr. Mendoza, that Dr. Mendoza approved the performance of the EMT's blood draw duties on a regular or even irregular basis, or that the EMT had regular or even irregular contact with Dr. Mendoza.

Id. ¶ 14.

However, while the court of appeals noted in *Penzkofer* that the lab technician who performed a blood draw in that case followed protocols written by a physician, the court recognized that nothing in the statute requires the following of such written protocols. *Penzkofer*, 184 Wis. 2d at 266. In *Osborne*, the court of appeals observed that "*Penzkofer* does not purport to interpret the statute as containing any such minimum standard." *Osborne*, 2013 WL 3213298, ¶ 19.

Similarly, nothing in the statute requires regular, or even irregular contact with a physician.

As the court of appeals concluded in *Penzkofer*, Wis. Stat. § 343.305(5)(b) does not require a physician to be present, much less involved in the blood draw, or to give an express authorization for each blood draw. *Penzkofer*, 184 Wis. 2d at 264. The statute provides only that a blood draw may be conducted by a person "acting under the direction of a physician." The blood draw in this case was conducted by an EMT-intermediate technician with the Baraboo District Ambulance Service who was authorized by the "Medical Director for Baraboo District Ambulance Service" to conduct blood draws. Dr. Mendoza's letter demonstrates that the approved EMT-Intermediates who draw blood for the Baraboo District Ambulance Service do so at Dr. Mendoza's direction. The court of appeals' conclusion to the contrary was incorrect, and should be reversed.

II. EVEN IF THE EMT WHO CONDUCTED THE BLOOD DRAW IN THIS CASE WAS NOT ACTING UNDER THE DIRECTION OF A PHYSICIAN, SUPPRESSION OF THE BLOOD TEST RESULT WOULD BE IMPROPRER BECAUSE, AS THE CIRCUIT COURT CONCLUDED, THE BLOOD DRAW WAS REASONABLE.

A. Introduction.

The second issue in this case concerns whether, even if the EMT who conducted the blood draw from Kozel was not acting under the direction of Dr. Mendoza, the results of a test of the blood must be suppressed. The circuit court did not address this issue because it concluded that the EMT was acting under the direction of Dr. Mendoza and was authorized to conduct the blood draw under § 343.305(5)(b). The court of appeals did not explicitly address this issue, but when it concluded that the EMT was not acting under the direction of Dr. Mendoza, it remanded the case to the circuit court with instructions to suppress the blood test results. *Kozel*, 2015 WL 6970484, ¶ 7. The court of appeals therefore at least implicitly concluded that results of a blood test not conducted in accordance with § 343.305(5)(b) must be suppressed.

As the State will explain, if a blood draw is conducted under the implied consent law in accordance with $\S 343.305(5)(b)$, the test results are automatically admissible under $\S 343.305(5)(d)$. But if a blood draw is not conducted in accordance with the implied consent law, the test results are not necessarily inadmissible. The test results are inadmissible only if the blood draw was not reasonable.

In this case, the circuit court correctly found that the blood draw was reasonable. Even if the blood draw did not comply with § 343.305(5)(b), the results should not be suppressed.

B. The result of a test of blood drawn under the implied consent law, but not in accordance with Wis. Stat. § 343.305(5)(b), is not inadmissible.

Wisconsin Stat. § 343.305(5)(d) provides that "results of a test administered in accordance with this section are admissible,"⁴ and are given prima facie effect under Wis.

⁴ Wisconsin Stat. § 343.305(5)(d) provides in relevant part as follows:

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